
 

 
 

CORPORATE PARENTING BOARD 
 

Date: Wednesday 11th January, 2023 
Time: 1.00 pm 

Venue: Mandela room 

 
AGENDA 

 
 

 

1.   Apologies for Absence 
 

Apologies for Absence 
 
 

  

2.   Declarations of Interest 
 

To receive any declarations of interest. 
 
 

  

3.   Minutes- Corporate Parenting Board - 29 November 2022 
 
 

 3 - 8 

4.   Participation of children and young people. 
 
Kathy Peacock, Voice and Influence Manager will be in attendance to provide an 
update to the Board. She will be joined by Adam Hart, CAMHS / HeadStart 
apprentice . 

 
 

 9 - 14 

5.   Kingfisher report 
 
Chief Inspector Deb Fenny, will present the Kingfisher report and discuss 
the request of becoming a corporate grandparent. 
 
 

 15 - 34 

6.   Ofsted Update- outcome from monitoring visit 
 

The Board will be provided with information on the outcome of 
the monitoring visit by Ofsted held on 1st and 2nd November 
2022. 
 
 

  

7.   Performance against Corporate Parenting strategy 
 

Kerrie Scarton, Interim Head of Service will present the 
scorecard. 
 
 

  

Page 1



 

8.   Nominet – REACH- Digiwise. 
 
Ralph Jordinson, Risk and Resilience Manager and Louisa 
Jefferson, Digital Policy Apprentice will provide an update to the Board. 
 
 

 35 - 56 

9.   Any other urgent items which in the opinion of the Chair, may be 
considered. 
 
 

  

 
Charlotte Benjamin 
Director of Legal and Governance Services 

 
Town Hall 
Middlesbrough 
Tuesday 3 January 2023 
 
MEMBERSHIP 
 
Councillors C Hobson (Chair), D Davison (Vice-Chair), B Cooper, D Coupe, A Hellaoui, T Higgins, 
M Saunders, Z Uddin and J Walker 
 
Assistance in accessing information 
 
Should you have any queries on accessing the Agenda and associated information please 
contact Susie Blood, 01642 729645, susie_blood@middlesbrough.gov.uk 
 

Page 2



Corporate Parenting Board 29 November 2022 
 

 
 

CORPORATE PARENTING BOARD 
 
A meeting of the Corporate Parenting Board was held on Tuesday 29 November 2022. 

 
PRESENT:  
 

Councillors  C Hobson (Chair), B Cooper and Z Uddin 
 

 
PRESENT BY 
INVITATION: 

Councillors   

 
ALSO IN 
ATTENDANCE: 

Glew (Thirteen Group) 

 
OFFICERS: V Banks, S Blood, R Brown, K Dargue, T Dunn, R Farnham, L Jefferson, A hart, L 

Beevers and K Peacock 
 
APOLOGIES FOR 
ABSENCE: 

Councillors D Davison, D Coupe, A Hellaoui, T Higgins, M Saunders, J Walker, 
M Smiles, T Parkinson, D fenny, K Scraton and S Myers 

 
22/1 WELCOME AND EVACUATION PROCEDURE 

 
 The Chair welcomed members and officers to the meeting and went through the evacuation 

procedure. 
 

22/2 APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 
 

 Apologies for Absence 
 

22/3 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 

 There were no declarations of interest received at this point in the meeting.  
 

22/4 MINUTES- CORPORATE PARENTING BOARD- 18 OCTOBER 2022 
 

 The minutes of the Corporate Parenting board held on 18 October 2022 were read and 
agreed as a true record. 
 

22/5 OFSTED UPDATE 
 

 Rachel Farnham, Director of Children’s Care provided the board with a brief summary of the 
recent Ofsted update. 
 
The visit took place on 1st and 2nd November 2022, however the findings of the visit were 
currently embargoed and a full update would be provided the Board on 11 January 2023. 
 
The Director did however state that the inspection went well and Ofsted agreed with the self-
assessment score which was conducted by the Council. 
 
AGREED 

 That the update be noted, 

 That a further update be submitted to the next Corporate Parenting Board on 11 
January 2023. 

 
22/6 KINGFISHER REPORT 

 
 Item deferred. 

 
22/7 PARTICIPATION OF CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE 

 
 The Chair welcomed Kathy Peacock, Voice and Influence Manager and Adam Hart, CAMHS / 

HeadStart Business Administrator Apprentice who were in attendance to provide the standard 
item update relating to activities of our care experienced young people 19 October 2022-29 

Page 3

Agenda Item 3



29 November 2022 

 

November 2022 
  
Adam provided further information to the Board on activities over the last 6 weeks: 
  

1. 24 October 2022, members of the children in care council (CICC) went for 
lunch. 

2. During care leavers week ( October half term), a number of Halloween 
themed events took place, including for example, apple bobbing, pumpkin 
carving and ‘ what’s in the box’. The young people were joined by senior 
decision makers and Pathway staff and presented with affirmation cards 
saying how proud they were of the young people.  

3. Get together meal at Fellinis. 
4. Our young CICC leader (Adam) who is part of the ‘Music producers’ (a 

collaboration with MusINC and the Participation Team put on their Town Hall 
take over on 30 October 2022. 85 young people attended included members 
of CICC. 

5. During the Jump 360 event, 23 looked after young people attended. As well 
as jumping and eating food, there was an engagement exercise where the 
young people were asked four questions, asked to help chose a new name of 
the children in care council, meet with an advisor from the National Youth 
Advocacy Service  (NYAS) and they told us what they would like for their 
Christmas party. 

6. The questions and key messages from the engagement event with shared 
with the board 

  
The Board also heard about the activities that the care experienced people plan over the next 
few months, including: 
 

1. Help care leavers write their ‘local offer’ and create an animation (with help 
from Middlesbrough College students). 

2. Have a children party for children looked after – 22 December 2022 
3. Plan a care leavers celebration in March 2023. 
4. Support the care leavers Christmas day meal- by ensuring as many care 

leavers as possible attend and raising money through selling raffle tickets to 
provide presents and hampers for our care leavers. 

5. Arrange for Care experienced young people to meet their corporate parents 
prior to a Full Council meeting. A date will be arranged in due course. 

 
After the presentation, Kathy requested that if any members would like to donate selection 
boxes for the young people to get in touch. Members might also like to get involved in the 
Christmas day meal and further details would be circulated in due course. 
 
The Chair also advised that she had contacted Acklam Hall regarding the Christmas party for 
care experienced young people but sadly they were not forthcoming.  
 
The officers were thanked for their presentation. 
 
AGREED 
That the update be noted. 
 
 
 

22/8 PERFORMANCE AGAINST CORPORATE PARENTING BOARD STRATEGY 
 

 Item deferred. 
 

22/9 THE PROCLAIM INITIATIVE 
 

 Victoria Banks, Virtual school Head was in attendance to provide Board members with a 
succinct overview of the PROCLAIM: Providing Rich Opportunities for Children who are 
Looked After in Middlesbrough. The model had been designed to improve practice within 

Page 4



29 November 2022 

 

schools. 
 
The Head provided information on PROCLAIM vision, mission and purpose and explained 
how the Local Authority will support schools to become ‘attachment aware and trauma-
informed’ (AATI). 
 
The Board were made aware that a wide body of research demonstrates that attachment 
aware and trauma-informed schools provide many short and long-term benefits to children 
and adults including for example: 
 

 Lower rates of exclusions 

 Higher attendance    

 Improved mental health and well-being for pupils and staff  

 Improved rates of post 16 education, employment and training  

 Reduced risks of criminalisation 

 Reduced risks of substance reliance in later life  
 
Some research even suggests that life span could be increased.    
 

The PROCLAIM initiative is expected to improve the lives and outcomes of all 
children in Middlesbrough, and will be of particular benefit to the most 
vulnerable. 
 
The PROCLAIM initiative was a bespoke project designed specifically to meet 
the needs of children in Middlesbrough and to compliment other work being 
delivered in schools by partner agencies. The Board were made aware that no 
other local authority driven strategy is able to address the specific needs of 
children as set out in the document so comprehensively.  
 
The Board heard that so far 10 schools has signed up to PROCLAIM and the 
PROCLAIM project aims to support all Middlesbrough schools to become 
attachment aware and trauma-informed by 2025. 
 
A Board member enquired the length of time for a teacher to become trained 
in attachment aware and trauma-informed. In response, the Head advised it was like a 

journey. The project supports them, provides training, support groups and provides them with 
information on the 5 strands of PROCLAIM. 
 
The board complimented the project and looked forward to further updated. 
 
AGREED 
That the information be noted.  
 

22/10 SOUTH TEES YOUTH OFFENDING SERVICE 
 

  
The Chair welcomed Kay Dargue, Head of South Tees Justice Board to the meeting. The 
Head of service had provided a report to inform the Board of the annual update of the work of 
South Tees Youth Justice Service, with specific reference to children looked after.  
 
The Head of service provided some context in relation to the South Tees Youth Justice board 
(STYJB), advising that the The Youth Justice Board (YJB) are clear that the justice system 
must see “children as children first, and offenders second”. 
In line with the Child First vision, the YJB wants to make sure that children are not 
unnecessarily criminalised as a result of their vulnerabilities and the challenges they face. 
South Tees Youth Justice Service is aligned to the values of the YJB, and the ‘child first, 
offender second’ ethos has been used to inform the values and principles which underpin our 
work with young people and their families. 
The Board were aware that the service was previously known at the South Tees Youth 
Offending service, however after consultation with young people, they felt this portrayed a 
negative image and therefore on 1 July 2022, it was launched under the new name of South 

Page 5



29 November 2022 

 

Tees Youth Justice Board (STYJB). 
 
STYJB have strong partnership arrangements with Children’s safeguarding services at 
strategic and operational levels and engage at a managerial level at a number of multi- 
agency forums designed to ensure the safety and well being of young people.  
Reducing the number of Children who are Looked After in the criminal justice system is a key 
priority for STYJS. They seek to work proactively with those young people who experience 
significant vulnerabilities including children in local authority care. Their work with looked after 
children is in line with the National protocol on reducing unnecessary criminalisation of looked 
after children and care leavers 2018. The service works closely with the virtual schools and 
also the participation team to bring together skills and thoughts. 
 
STYJB offer a range of additional activity for children who are looked after, including: 
 

• Work with Cleveland Police and Children’s Home staff to ensure those young 
people in Children’s Homes who offend have their offending behaviour 
addressed appropriately, including the use of restorative intervention as a 
solution to minimise prosecution  

• Ensure active STYJS attendance at all planning or strategy meetings for 
young people with Children looked after status 

• STYJS safeguarding case managers provide an essential link to Children’s 
Services teams in both Local Authorities as well as providing advice and 
guidance to colleagues on safeguarding issues and processes.  

• Ensure all Intervention Plans for Children looked after are shared with young 
people, their carers and colleagues from Children’s Services 

• Joint supervision arrangements between STYJS and Middlesbrough 
Children’s Services are in place offering the opportunity to share decision 
making and agree strategies to meet the needs of young people known to 
both services.  

• A working agreement between STYJS and Early Help is in place to ensure 
joint planning and supervision arrangements. The agreement aims to 
reduce escalation in the criminal justice and / or looked after system by 
working collaboratively. 

• A YJS ‘single point of contact’ has been provided to the Multi Agency 
Children’s Hub. This offers multi agency children’s hub (MACH) staff the 
direct opportunity for information and advice on young people known to 
our service.  

• MACH case admin have access to STYJS case management system 
‘Childview’ which allows for checks to be made as a referral is received 
by the MACH to ascertain if the case is open to STYJS and ensure that 
joint working commences at the earliest opportunity. 

 
In terms of involvement, the vast majority of children looked and care leavers after do not get 
involved with the justice system, however they remain over-represented compared with others 
in the criminal justice system. The service know that Looked after children (who have been 
looked after for at least 12 months) are five times more likely to offend than all children, and 
around half of young people in custody have been in care at some point. 
In terms of caseload demographics, Information contained within the Local Authority 
Interactive Tool, shows that in Middlesbrough in 2022, 2% of children who were looked after 
had been convicted or were subject to a Youth Caution. This in line with the North East (2%) 
and national (in England 2%) figures.   
 
Within the report, the Head of service has provided a breakdown of cases open yo STYJB 
between 1 April 2022 and 30 September 2022. It showed that the The table shows that the 
largest proportion of young people open to the service were white British boys aged 17 or 
over. 18.9% of cases open to the service in the last 6 months were children looked after, 
which is slightly higher than 15.5% in the same period last year. However, this figure can 
fluctuate and is not dissimilar to the other Cleveland Youth Justice Services.  
 
In terms of developments of the service over the last 12 months, these were detailed within 
the report, however a number of these were as follows: 

1. New name for service 
2. A well developed joint working arrangement between STYJB and children’s social 

care. 

Page 6



29 November 2022 

 

3. STYJB management board receives a performance report on a quarterly basis which 
outlines progress against our 3 key outcome measures, these being; 

 

 To reduce first time entrants to the youth justice system 

 To prevent re-offending by children and young people 

 Reduce the use of custody for young people (both sentenced and remanded)  
 

4. The STYJS Management Board recently requested further information on the number 
of children who are looked after who are first time entrants to be included in the report 
to ensure we appropriately monitor and track these children and identify any issues 
which may need responding to from a partnership perspective. 

5. From April 2023 the YJB are bringing in ten new additional national key performance 
indicators to Youth Justice Services to ensure there is a clear understanding of how 
local multi-agency partnerships are operating, and provide transparency and 
accountability to help Youth Justice Management Boards, the YJB and Ministry of 
Justice to recognise progress and successes as well as to focus attention and support 
where there are challenges. One of the new KPI’s is; 

 
% children who are currently on either an Early Help (EH) plan; on a child protection 
(CP) plan or classified as Child in Need (CIN) or a looked after child (LAC) 

6. STYJS have been working closely with Cleveland Police in relation to a project in the 
custody suite whereby young people will be provided with an opportunity to deliver an 
art project in the cells with the aim of improving the environment. 

Finally the Head of service provided information on the next steps and actions, which were as 
follows: 
 

1. The service will continue to work in partnership with Cleveland Police on the ‘custody 
project’. The project is in very early stages and provides an exciting opportunity for 
our young people to be consulted in the design of a bespoke custody suite. This is 
very unique in the Country. 

 
2. The Ministry Of Justice has recently announced a ‘Turnaround’ programme which is 

being rolled out to Youth Justice Services nationally. The aim of the programme is to 
intervene earlier and improve outcomes for children on the cusp of entering the youth 
justice system. In practice this will enable STYJS will work with a wider co-hort of 
children than previously and provide additional support at an earlier point to prevent 
escalation in to the youth justice system. Final guidance is due to be published 
imminently and the programme is currently expected to go live in April 2023. 

 
3. STYJS plans to deliver targeted staff development sessions including ‘Awareness 

Raising on Care Leavers in Custody’ as part of the Principal Social Worker’s ‘Hot 
Topics’ sessions. The first session is planned in December, following which wider staff 
training on young people in custody will be offered to the Children’s Social Care 
workforce. 

 
The Board welcomed the presentation and were particularly pleased with the joint working and 
the work surrounding the custody suite, and would welcome further information on this as 
work develops. 
 
AGREED 
That the information be noted. 
 

22/11 ANY OTHER URGENT ITEMS WHICH IN THE OPINION OF THE CHAIR, MAY BE 
CONSIDERED. 
 

 No items. 
 

 
 

 
 
 

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank



1 

MIDDLESBROUGH COUNCIL 

CORPORATE PARENTING BOARD 
 

 

Report of: Kathy Peacock – Voice and Influence Manager  

 

 

Submitted to: Corporate Parenting Board- 11th January 2023 

 

Subject: Care Experienced Youth Voice Update 29th Nov -11th Jan 2023  

 

Contribution to the guiding principles of the Corporate Parenting Strategy 

Your Home 

Your Family and Friends 

Your Education 

Your Adult Life 

Your Health and wellbeing 

Your Voice and Influence 

 
Is the report confidential or does it contain exempt information? 
 
No 

 
What is the purpose of this report? 
 
To update the Corporate Parents on what care experienced young people have achieved, 
what they have told us and their plan for the next few months. To have the Corporate 
Parent’s discuss their involvement with the groups/activities to further support the work.   
 
Report Background 
N/A 
 
Appendices 
 
Report attached  
 
Recommendations 
N/A 
 
Why is this being recommended? 
N/A 
 
Other potential decisions and why these have not been recommended 
N/A 
 
 

Page 9

Agenda Item 4



2 

Impact(s) of recommended decision(s) 
N/A 
 
Legal  
N/A 
 
Financial 
N/A 
 
Policy Framework 
N/A 
 
Equality and Diversity 
N/A 
 
Risk 
N/A 
 
Actions to be taken to implement the decision(s) 
N/A 
 
 
Background papers 
No background papers were used in the preparation of this report. 
 
Contact: Kathy Peacock 
 
Email:  Kathy_peacock@middlesbrough.gov.uk 
 

 
 

Page 10



Document is Restricted

Page 11

By virtue of paragraph(s) 2 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



GWatson2022             A partnership committed to keeping children safe and working together to achieve the best possible 
outcomes for children and families. 

 

 
 

 

Councillor Chris Hobson 

Middlesbrough Council 

Chair of the Corporate Parenting Board 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Dear Councillor Hobson, 
 
Subject: CSPR Kingfisher: Corporate Grandparent 
 
A recent Child Safeguarding Practice Review (CSPR) “KINGFISHER” recommended that the South 
Tees Safeguarding Children Partnership approach the Corporate Parenting Board to ask them to 
consider how they can develop the concept of being a positive ‘corporate grandparent’ to the children 
of care leavers. 
 
The CSPR report was exploring the concept in-line with the corporate responsibilities for agencies for 
care leavers who are parents. As chair of the STSCP Learning & Development group I would like to 
propose I attend the next available Corporate Parenting Board to discuss matter. Please see enclosed 
a copy of the Kingfisher Report for your information and consideration.    
 
You will need no reminding I know that the safeguarding challenge in the South Tees area and indeed 
across the Tees and wider region is both diverse and significant and that although there is much good 
work to report on, there is no room for complacency on the part of any agency.   The safety and welfare 
of our children and young people must remain a top priority. 
 
If you have any further queries or requirements please contact Gary Watson the South Tees 
Safeguarding Children Partnership Business Manager at gary_watson@middlesbrough.gov.uk or 
telephone 01642 728704 
 
 
 
Yours sincerely 
 

Deb Fenny 

Detective Chief Inspector 
Deb Fenny 
Chair of the STSCP L&D Group 

 

South Tees Safeguarding 
Children Partnership 
Third Floor 
Middlesbrough House 
Middlesbrough 
TS1 2RH 

Email:  STSCP@middlesbrough.gov.uk 

Tel:  01642 728704  

Page 15

Agenda Item 5

mailto:STSCP@middlesbrough.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 
Final 
 

1 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Child Safeguarding Practice Review 

Kingfisher  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Author: Nicki Pettit 

Page 17



 
Final 
 

2 
 

 
 
 

 
 

Child Safeguarding Practice Review 

Kingfisher  

Contents 

1 Introduction to the review Page 1 

2 Process Page 2 

4 Identification of learning Page 3 

5 Conclusion and Recommendations Page 16 

 
 

 

       Introduction to the review 

1. This review considers systems and practice within and between partner agencies in the South Tees 

area specifically with regard to the assessment and safeguarding of children where there are concerns 

about neglect.  

2. In order to identify learning and good practice, and to consider the need for improvement action, the 

review reflected on two cases where the neglect of young children featured.   

3. The learning identified is in relation to: 

 The importance of knowing and considering a parents history and vulnerabilities 

 Recognising and working effectively with families where neglect is an issue 

 Pre-birth assessment 

 Involving fathers 

 The role of pathway (leaving care) workers 

 Impact of audits 

 Professional challenge 

 Impact of COVID 19 

        Process 

4. Following rapid review processes1 and consultation with the Child Safeguarding Practice Review 

Panel, the STSCP identified that lessons could be learnt regarding the way that agencies work 

together to safeguard children where neglect is a concern2.   

5. The CSPR was conducted in accordance with the requirements set out in:  

                                                           
1 A rapid review is undertaken in order to ascertain whether a Local Child Safeguarding Practice Review is appropriate, or whether 
the case may raise issues which are complex or of national importance and if a national review may be appropriate. The decision is 
then made along with the national Child Safeguarding Practice Review Panel. 
2 It was agreed that this learning review would be undertaken rather than individual child safeguarding practice reviews after 
consultation with the National Child Safeguarding Practice Panel in December 2020. 

Page 18



 
Final 
 

3 
 

 The Children Act 20043 (as amended by the Children and Social Work Act 20174) 

 Working Together 20185 

 Tees Multi-Agency Children’s Safeguarding Policy and Procedures 
 

6. In order to identify learning and consider the need for improvement action, the review considered two 

cases. One where a young baby died, and one where a two year old was seriously injured. Both of the 

families were well known to statutory agencies and on either a child in need or child protection plan at 

the time of the incidents.   

   Lucy6 was two years old when she was injured in an accident that was contributed to by parental 

neglect. Her mother was receiving support as a care leaver and Lucy was on a child in need (CIN) 

plan at the time of the incident.  

   Mia was less than a month old when she died. The cause of death is not yet known7. Mia was on a 

child protection plan (CPP) due to neglect concerns for her older siblings. Her father misuses drugs 

and is on a drug treatment programme.   

7. Consideration of these cases enabled the review to focus on the systems that were in place and what 

works well in a strengths-based approach, alongside an exploration of where there may be learning for 

the system and for multi-agency practice.  

8. In respect of the cases considered, personal family details will only be disclosed in this report where it is 

essential to the learning established during the review.   

9. An independent lead reviewer8 was commissioned to work with a panel of local safeguarding 

professionals from the key agencies. The lead reviewer facilitated practitioner events,9 made contact 

with the families and produced this report. The lead reviewer and the panel collaborated on identifying 

the learning and agreeing recommendations from this CSPR.  

10. All of the parents received two letters asking them to speak to the lead reviewer about their experience 

of professional involvement with their families. Only Lucy’s father agreed to speak to the lead reviewer 

and his views are included in the report. Prior to publication of the learning from the review, all of the 

parents will be updated.  

11. Agency involvement at the time was considered by each individual agency through the completion of 

case specific chronologies, which included analysis and the identification of any single-agency learning. 

From these chronologies and the rapid review information, themes were identified for discussion with 

the professionals involved in the cases at the practitioner events. The events also considered wider 

practice with children and families where neglect is a concern in South Tees.  

12. An OFSTED inspection in December 2019 found that Middlesbrough Children Services was inadequate 

and a key focus of the improvement plan is about recognising risk and the need to improve the 

                                                           
3 http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2004/31/contents  
4 www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2017/16/contents/enacted  
5 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/working-together-to-safeguard-children--2  
6 Both children have been given alternative names to ensure confidentiality and aid the learning from the review.   
7 Toxicology tests were negative 
8 Nicki Pettitt is an experienced lead reviewer and has been undertaking serious case reviews and CSPRs since 2009. She is entirely 
independent of all partner agencies in South Tees.  
9 This was by virtual meeting technology due to the impact of Covid-19 

Page 19



 
Final 
 

4 
 

management of cases of long-standing neglect. This review was therefore also seen as a way of 

checking on the multi-agency response to the neglect evident in the two cases being considered.  

     Analysis and identification of learning 

13. Through the detailed consideration of both cases, the review has established the following learning:   

Learning point 1:   

When assessing if children require additional support or if they are at risk, it is important to always 

consider the parent’s history and on-going vulnerabilities and the impact on the children.  

14. Lucy’s mother had been in care from the age of 7 due to her own experience of neglectful parenting. 

She had a large number of care placements, police and youth offending service involvement and 

periods of being missing from her placements. She was 18 years old and open to Pathways (the leaving 

care service) at the time of her pregnancy. Her midwife made a referral to children’s social care stating 

that she was a vulnerable care leaver and had a history of violence when younger.  The Youth 

Offending Service (YOS) confirmed to the review that this was related to behaviour in her residential 

placement and that they had had no involvement for around 4 years.  Lucy’s mother had a history of 

depression and self-harming which was not felt to be an issue by the time of Lucy’s birth when she was 

18 years old. Routine questions about mental health were asked and the mother stated she was well. 

By this time she had reconciled with her mother, Lucy’s maternal grandmother (MGM) and was living 

back in the family home.  

15. There was limited contact with the child’s father either during the later part of the pregnancy or post 

birth. He told the review that he was not invited to any meetings and had very limited contact from 

professionals in respect of his daughter. He was not thought to have been known to children’s social 

care during his childhood, but at the practitioners event undertaken for this review the GP confirmed that 

father’s notes held information on a child protection plan for neglect in his early childhood, This was not 

known to those currently working the case, as it appears that GP checks had not been undertaken. This 

information should also have been available to CSC but changes of IT system seem to have led to it not 

being readily available. Father was also known to the YOS, but these checks were not undertaken. The 

Pathways worker knew Lucy’s mother well and had met her father. She had concerns about their 

relationship, lifestyle and their capacity to safely care for a baby. Lucy’s father told the review that they 

smoked cannabis regularly but denied that had ever been any domestic abuse in the relationship.  

16.  In contrast, Mia’s family were not well known to professionals in Middlesbrough. They did not move in 

to the local authority area until early in 2020. It soon became apparent that there were indicators of 

neglect of the children in this large family10. A child protection plan was made in March 2020. The 

concerns were specifically about the impact on the children of Mia’s father’s11 significant and long-term 

substance misuse12 and the ability of their mother to protect them from the effects of this. Mia’s father 

was on a treatment plan but continued to misuse drugs, including crack cocaine and heroin. The 

relationship between Mia’s parents was relatively new and he was not the father of the older children. In 

                                                           
10 In order to protect the identity of the family, the number of siblings will not be specified in this report. However Mia had a much 
higher than average number of older brothers and sisters.  
11  The older children have a different father.  
12 Mia’s father also has older children who live in another area and there is no contact, they are not considered further by this review.  

Page 20



 
Final 
 

5 
 

the previous local authority area, which was the same health authority area, they had received a 

universal health visiting service. During the review professionals involved with them reflected that 

mother’s wider family tended to live in households with poor levels of hygiene, but that none would meet 

the threshold for professional involvement due to neglect.  

17. It appears that the concerns in relation to the care of the children did not start until after their mother 

began her relationship with the father of baby Mia, following her split from the father of the older 

children.  Mother reported struggling with depression following the break-up of this long-term 

relationship and this continued to be an issue at the time of their move to Middlesbrough. She was also 

noted to be stressed and frustrated by her new partners drug use, although it was felt that she did not 

fully understand or acknowledge the impact on the children, including the cost of his habit which was 

estimated to be at least £120 per week13.  

18. Mia’s father is reported to have had a difficult childhood and to have started misusing drugs at age 12. 

Little was known at the time about his more general childhood experiences, but he had physical health 

issues as well as the ongoing substance misuse concerns and required a lot of help and support from 

his partner, and to an extent her older children. There were occasions known to professionals where 

one of the children would be sent out with mother’s partner to ensure he did not use drugs. While the 

focus of the professional’s parenting concerns was this drug use, it was expected that the children’s 

mother would be providing the majority of parenting. This was not going to be easy with a large number 

of children, her depression, a lack of local family support, emerging difficulties in the relationship with 

Mia’s father and reportedly poor quality private-rented housing, even before the Covid-19 pandemic. 

The need for a child protection plan was established and processes were followed.   

19. Pathways to Harm, Pathways to Protection; a Triennial Review of SCRs 2011–14 was published in 

201614 (to be referred to as the Triennial Review) and states that the SCRs considered show that there 

are factors in a parents’ background which potentially may present a risk to a child. These include:  

 Domestic abuse  

 Parental mental health problems  

 Drug and alcohol misuse  

 Adverse childhood experiences  

 A history of criminality, particularly violent crime  

 Patterns of multiple, consecutive partners  

 Acrimonious separation 

 The Triennial Review points out that these factors ‘appear to interact with each other, creating 

cumulative levels of risk the more factors are present’.   Other factors are included as significant; young 

motherhood; estrangement from the new mother’s own parents; temporary housing or supported 

accommodation; lack of support from the baby’s father and/or a new or unstable relationship with the 

father.’ The average age of first-time mothers whose children were the subject of a SCR was age 19. 

Lucy’s mother was 18 when she was born. This is compared to the national average of age 28 for first 

                                                           
13 Mother told professionals that she did not give money to her partner, however they had a joint benefits claim which would have 
made this difficult. Was this questioned enough, particularly in light of the lack of food etc in the home?  
14 P. Sidebotham and M. Brandon et al. (2016)  

Page 21



 
Final 
 

6 
 

time mothers. There were also housing issues, family conflict and difficulties with her previous partner. 

At one stage Lucy had three different homes in two weeks.  

20. For Mia and her siblings a number of these issues also co-existed. For example, housing was an 

ongoing issue and the relationship between Mia’s parents was very new when mother became 

pregnant.  Both cases show that it is essential that anyone undertaking an assessment or working to 

support a family understands the importance of considering their current situation, but also that 

consideration is given to the potential impact of the parent’s childhood experience, relationship/s and 

their specific vulnerabilities on their parenting and risks to their child.  

21. The mental health of a parent should be considered in the context of the impact on the care provided to 

the child.  In the cases considered there had been insufficient consideration or overly optimistic 

consideration of this impact by professionals working with the families. Both mother’s in these cases had 

some mental health concerns that do not appear to have been fully explored. There was no evidence 

that the impact of Lucy’s mother’s anxiety on her parenting was considered and Mia’s mother’s 

depression was seen as a reaction to her circumstances and its impact on the children was seen to be 

in terms of her not being able to practically care for her large family, particularly while pregnant. The 

impact on the children of these mental health issues required much wider understanding and 

assessment.  

Learning point 2:  

A pre-birth social work assessment should be undertaken in cases where there are predisposing risks 

and vulnerabilities that warrant involvement from children’s social care. This includes if there is 

involvement with the parent or other children in the immediate family. All professionals need to be aware 

of this procedure and should challenge a lack of assessment. If no assessment is to be undertaken 

when the parent is receiving a service from pathways, as could be appropriate, there needs to be clear 

reasons recorded about why this is the case.  
 

22. In Mia’s case there was a pre-birth assessment as her siblings were on child protection plans at the 

time. While this was undertaken the analysis could have been stronger, particularly in respect of the 

parenting capacity of both parents and the likely life experience of Mia following her birth. A pre-birth 

child protection conference was held, although it was delayed due to COVID-19. It specifically 

considered if the baby was likely to be at risk of significant harm from neglect, and a child protection 

plan was made. At the time there was little improvement noted in the home conditions, which were 

described as extremely poor. Concerns remained about the ability of mother and her partner to manage 

the behaviour of the children, despite a period of child protection planning for the older children. It was 

right that the baby was made subject to a child protection plan. The challenge was to ensure that the 

plan considered each individual child and their needs.  
 

23. In Lucy’s case no further action was taken in respect of the pre-birth referral from the midwife during 

mother’s pregnancy, despite the unborn baby procedures stating that an assessment will take place 

“where the expectant parents are currently active to CSC and/or they have children who are currently 

active to CSC” and because of the specific vulnerabilities that the midwife outlined.  Lucy’s mother was 

receiving a service from Pathways as a care leaver and therefore technically open to CSC so a pre-birth Page 22



 
Final 
 

7 
 

assessment needed to be considered, or at least there should have been a clearly recorded reason why 

the procedures were not being followed which was shared with other professionals. There is no 

evidence that the midwifery service challenged the decision.  
 

24. The Pathways worker made a new referral around a month later, raising concerns about the expectant 

mother and father’s drug misuse, lack of settled accommodation, domestic abuse in the relationship and 

the potential difficulties the expectant mother may have in caring for a baby. A single assessment was 

appropriately completed on this occasion and it was decided that the baby should be on a child in need 

plan following birth.  
 

Learning point 3:   

Clarity is required regarding the roles of all professionals involved with a family and assumptions should 

not be made. If a parent is receiving support from a Pathways worker, this does not mean they will be 

providing support to the care leavers child or specifically monitoring their wellbeing. They may have no 

contact with the child.  
 

25. Lucy’s mother received significant support from her Pathways worker during the pregnancy. Information 

shared with the review noted that there were over fifty separate contacts during these months. The main 

areas of need were in respect of accommodation difficulties, the fragile relationship between mother and 

MGM, difficulties in the relationship with the baby’s father and general anxiety about the pregnancy and 

birth. There was a good relationship and there is no doubt that Lucy’s mother benefited from this.  
 

26. The focus of a Pathways Worker is on the care leaver and their needs in respect of health, education or 

employment, housing and financial/benefit issues. While a number of care leavers are also parents, the 

Pathways Worker is not responsible for the children, even if they are on a child in need plan as Lucy 

was following her birth. The decision to close this plan appears to have been made largely due to the 

on-going involvement of the pathways worker with her mother however. There were outstanding issues, 

particularly in respect of suitable housing for the young family, the relationship with MGM and contact 

with Lucy’s father. The recording of the decision states that the case was closed as there were no 

safeguarding concerns identified. This was despite limited evidence of work being undertaken to support 

the mother with the concerns identified during the assessment. It is important that support to care 

leavers who are parents and their children includes a consideration of the support they require, rather 

than a deficit model where support is only provided if there are safeguarding concerns.  

 
 

27. It was noted that the Pathways worker would continue their involvement with Lucy’s mother, which was 

seen as a safeguard to the baby. The only professional involved specifically for the child was the health 

visitor and there is no evidence that consideration was given to the need for on-going parenting support 

to pre-empt future referrals, and to what early help services could provide to a vulnerable mother with a 

new baby. This was in part due to assumptions that the pathways worker was responsible for the baby, 

and also due to the mother previously stating that she did not wish to engage with early help support.  

28. Professionals need to be curious about what the involvement of another professional actually involves. 

For example it is common for professionals to assume that if a care leaver is a parent, that the pathways 

worker’s role will provide a safeguard to the baby. While this is true to an extent, there may actually be Page 23



 
Final 
 

8 
 

very little involvement between the care leaver and their own worker, there may not be home visits and 

they may not actually ever see the baby. In this case, and generally, questions should be asked about 

the extent of a professional’s involvement, including the level of contact, where they are seeing people, 

whether they undertake home visits, and what happens if their service is declined. When care leavers 

become parents there needs to be a recognition, clarity and full understanding of the different roles that 

professionals have in relation to the family / unborn.   

Learning point 4:  

It is important that professionals understand the need to meaningfully consider and involve fathers in 

assessments and plans in respect of their children.  

29. In 2020 the South Tees partnership completed a CSPR called Stork that considered systems and 

practice with families with young babies in the area. It concluded that a child’s father needs to be seen 

as an equal parent in order to ensure that the needs and risks to a child are met and known.  It stated 

that professionals need to give separate consideration to how they can meaningfully engage with 

fathers, including those who do not live with the child. It also recognised that this can pose a challenge 

to professionals. In respect of both Lucy and Mia challenges were evident.  

30. In Lucy’s case there were concerns about the child’s father but these were not assessed at the time. 

The mother’s assertions about him were accepted and there was no evidence of any meaningful 

attempts to involve him in the child in need plan made prior to Lucy’s birth or later when a new plan was 

made. It appears he continued to have contact with Lucy at the time, and although there is evidence of 

some on-going difficulties regarding comments on social media it was largely said to be positive by 

Lucy’s mother.  At one stage, when Lucy’s mother had housing issues, Lucy went to stay with her father 

and his parents. There was still no attempt to undertake a proper assessment of him, to involve him in 

the child in need plans, or to consider what help and support his side of the family could provide to Lucy. 

It is now known that prior to Lucy’s accident her mother had started a new relationship and was 

expecting a baby. Nothing was known about her new boyfriend and the impact his presence in the 

family may have on Lucy and on the mother’s care of her daughter.  

31. The father of Mia’s siblings lived in another area and there was a view that he wanted no involvement 

with his children following his move to Middlesbrough. Some attempts were made to contact him but 

largely the children’s mother’s assertion that he would not cooperate was accepted.  As well as posing a 

potential risk to children, fathers can also be a protective factor. For example fathers who do not live as 

part of the immediate family may be capable of caring for and protecting a child if this is required, as he 

may have been for the older siblings of Mia who were on a child protection plan due to concerns about 

neglect and the impact of their mother’s partner drug misuse. Case reviews show that fathers are often 

overlooked by professionals15, often along with the wider paternal family.  This was potentially the case 

for both Lucy and Mia.  

32. In Lucy’s case her father is now her full-time carer. This review was provided with very little information 

about Mia’s sibling’s father, who appears to still be absent from their lives and the work being 

                                                           
15 Hidden men: learning from case reviews. Summary of risk factors and learning for improved practice. NSPCC April 2015 

Page 24



 
Final 
 

9 
 

undertaken with them, which is ongoing. Sandstrom et al16 made specific recommendations about 

identifying fathers and male carers, including: ‘being explicit with mothers about the importance of 

speaking to the father and including him in the process, while also ensuring that she would not be put at 

risk; speaking separately to the father rather than gathering information solely through the mother; and 

arranging separate home visits if necessary to explain the relevance of his involvement with the child, 

communicating a willingness to include him in decisions.’  Lucy’s father told the review he knew little 

about professional involvement with his daughter and that he was not invited to be involved in any 

planning.  

33. As noted in the Stork review, learning has been identified nationally about the requirement for 

meaningful involvement with fathers by professionals working with children, and the national Child 

Safeguarding Practice Review Panel is due to publish a national CSPR that will consider this issue. Two 

recommendations were made in the Stork review. Firstly that the STSCP take the learning from the 

national CSPR when it is published and explore further what can be done to improve the involvement of 

fathers in work undertaken with families where there is a new baby. Secondly that a piece of work is 

undertaken to provide a better understanding from professionals in partner agencies of the role of 

fathers, the need to engage with fathers and to consider projects in other parts of the country that are 

making a difference.  These recommendations will also be beneficial in light of the learning from Lucy 

and Mia’s cases. 

Learning point 5:  

Professionals need to use specific neglect tools and ensure that they understand the root causes of 

neglect and the impact on a child over time   

34. Although in many ways Lucy suffered from lower level neglect throughout her life prior to and 

immediately following the serious incident when she was two years old, the risk from neglect was not 

identified at the time. A second single assessment was completed when she was around a year old 

following allegations shared by a family member about the home conditions at MGM’s home, where 

Lucy and her mother were living. Concerns were also shared about Maternal Grandmother’s alleged 

long term and ongoing misuse of amphetamines. No further action was taken by CSC following the 

assessment and again it was recorded that due to the Pathway’s worker and health visitor involvement 

there was no need for social work involvement with Lucy. This was not challenged by the pathways 

worker or the health visitor and there is no evidence that cumulative risk or the need for early help was 

considered.  MGM had always been seen as a positive safeguard for the child and an assessment was 

required to ensure that this was actually the case in light of the new information shared.   There was no 

consideration of using any neglect tools, such as the graded care pathway (GCP) in the case. The GCP 

is an assessment tool which helps practitioners measure the quality of care a child is receiving. The 

NSPCC state that it is effective in helping identify whether a child is at risk of neglect. In Middlesbrough 

there is currently improved access to training for social workers in the GCP, with course availability 

throughout the second half of 2021. There is also a plan to ensure wider professional training across 

agencies if issues with licencing are successfully addressed. Until then, the increased use of 

chronologies, genograms and ecograms to guide practice would be a positive step.  

                                                           
16 Approaches to father engagement in home visiting programs. 2015 

Page 25



 
Final 
 

10 
 

 

35. A strategy meeting was held in January 2020, when Lucy was around 18 months old. This was following 

an incident where MGM was allegedly physically assaulted by Lucy’s mother and aunt, both of whom 

had been drinking and possibly misusing drugs. The assessment that followed identified that there had 

been significant instability for Lucy in where she lived and who cared for her, and that she presented as 

unkempt. This incident was treated in isolation and not considered within the context of what else was 

known, and there was optimism regarding mother’s role in the incident. It was the view of the social 

work team who undertook the assessment that mother could not have been too drunk at the time as the 

police let her continue to care for Lucy. The review has found this was not actually the case. The police 

shared that while mother and child remained together following the incident, it was at a friend’s home 

who was seen as protective. It was the officer’s view that the mother was in fact too drunk to care for the 

child. This is an example of assumptions being made and issues downplayed without the full facts being 

sought and established. There is also the potential for gender having an impact, and it is interesting to 

consider what the outcome would have been if the perpetrator of the abuse and carer for the child had 

been male. Mother’s self report about what happened and her denial of being drunk or under the 

influence of drugs was accepted without confirming with the police officers who were in attendance at 

the time, despite mother’s history of substance misuse and aggression. 

 

36. Mia was the subject of a child protection plan due to neglect from birth. The risk to her in light of the 

family’s concerning situation and the experience of her older siblings meant there was a plan in place 

and recognition of neglect being a significant concern following the baby’s birth. This was positive. While 

there was a degree of understanding of the root cause of the children’s neglect, which was thought to be 

because of Mia’s fathers drug use and her mother being unable to cope due her low mood and the 

overwhelming task of caring for her large family without family support. The use of evidenced based 

tools and research in this case would have allowed more understanding of the case and provided more 

clarity amidst the chaos. The children’s social worker reported the difficulty in gaining and then 

considering the lived experiences of the large number of children in the family, particularly during the 

COVID-19 pandemic. She worked very hard to get to know each child and to communicate with all of 

the other professionals involved.  
 

37. At the review event those involved felt that despite the conditions at home, the children were loved and 

valued by their mother, and that their earlier years had not been neglectful. This made them optimistic 

that the impact on the children would not be damaging, however there was no assessment of the impact 

on the children and limits to the understanding sought about their lived experience. The focus of the 

work now is in respect of their bereavement for their baby sister, but there remains a need to ensure 

that there is also a focus on the neglect they have suffered in the past and may suffer again in the 

future.  
 

38. There is currently work going on in South Tees with developing a neglect strategy for adolescent 

children. This will be beneficial to the older siblings of Mia. It is planned that a strategy for younger 

children will be developed as the next stage. This will need to include improved awareness and use of 

the strategy across all partner agencies, in order to improve practice generally.  
 

Learning point 6:  Page 26



 
Final 
 

11 
 

There is a need for transparent and sensitive management of auditing activity in local authorities with 

improvement plans. There also needs to be a system in place to consider the outcome of actions from 

audits to ensure they have achieved what was required.  
 

39. The pattern of Lucy’s mother missing appointments, not engaging with professionals and dismissing 

their concerns continued. This, and the risk associated with mother’s history, was identified during an 

audit undertaken in May 2020 that suggested that the case needed to have a child protection rather 

than a child in need focus. A strategy meeting was held following the audit but maintained that Lucy 

continued to require a child in need plan. It was conceded however that the CinN plan must be ‘really 

strong’. Those present at the strategy meeting agreed with the decision and no dissent was recorded. 

Signs of Safety was used during the meeting and the scaling of 5/6 was given, which is an average 

score - between 0 which means recurrence of similar or worse danger/concerns is certain and 10 which 

means that sufficient safety has been demonstrated. There is a reliance on scaling to determine if a 

child is at the right place in the system, but this review has found that scaling can be over optimistic if 

undertaken in a multi-agency collective setting, particularly if the parents are present. It can also be hard 

to understand without a clear record and strong narrative around the number agreed. Professional 

challenge should also be invited and expected.  It is noted that when used in social work supervision the 

scaling was less optimistic and more reflective of what the reality was for Lucy.  

40. The social work team that were working with Lucy and her mother were responsible for reviewing the 

case following the audit. They had a clear view that it was a child in need and not a child protection 

case, and did not believe there was any evidence that the threshold for child protection had been 

reached. They also had a view that the thresholds of the auditors were lower than was expected 

practice in the area, and that they did not understand the levels of concern in the community and the 

need for keeping thresholds at the level they were. This was despite the external audit team being 

asked to consider thresholds locally and a view from OFSTED that this was required. 

41. Due to their OFSTED rating of ‘inadequate’ Middlesbrough Council’s CSC had the scrutiny and support 

of a number of outside professionals in order to ensure improvements were made. This was clearly 

incredibly hard for staff, and this was evident in both the response to the audit in this case and was still 

evident during the review meeting.  To ask the same professionals who had made decisions to review 

them without any further scrutiny from someone not involved is unlikely to lead to a change in the plan. 

Particularly when they are resentful of the challenge to their practice. Other case reviews show that it is 

difficult for a professional to change their mind when they have decided on a course of action, without 

clear changes in the situation or a significant incident that forces them to reassess their position. 

Decisions are made with the information available at the time, but they may need to change as more 

information emerges, and when risks and needs change. Professionals are required to constantly 

review their own views and to challenge the decisions of others as required.  The audit led to a 

defensive rather than open minded review of the case.  
 

42. It is not easy for those involved to review their own work in this way and to change what they had 

previously thought. It is also difficult for staff when outside auditors come in and those spoken to felt that 

they were being criticised by people who had no connection to the area. The audit was put in place as Page 27



 
Final 
 

12 
 

an immediate response to the Ofsted inspection, as a 12 week plan before the strategic plan was ready 

to be rolled out. The initial audit happened while services were adjusting to restrictions and working from 

home due to COVID 19 and communication platforms were challenging. There is now a fair more 

transparent and integrated model of audit which includes reflective discussions with the professionals 

involved. There is also clearer tracking of what happens next after there has been a challenge, re-

auditing of plans that were audited as inadequate, and moderation if there is disagreement about an 

audit rating.  
 

43. There is no evidence that any feedback was given, or requested, by either the audit team or senior 

managers following the strategy meeting that was held in Lucy’s case. There was also no challenge 

from any other agency involved in the case. So this opportunity to reconsider where the case was held 

within the system did not have an impact, other than the acknowledgement that the CIN plan needing to 

be ‘strong’. There is no explanation regarding what this would involve and there was limited direct 

involvement with Lucy and her mother in the months that followed, although there is evidence of 

professionals trying to contact them. Those involved explained that Lucy’s mother could be a challenge 

to pin down and that it was often hard to speak to or see her. There is always the risk, when a parent is 

a young care leaver themselves, that professional expectations of them adjust and that this leads to 

excuses or concessions for missed appointments, negative attitudes towards professionals and 

difficulties in accepting support. Care leavers have a legacy of being in care which impacts on their 

relationships with professionals and it can be difficult for those involved to build the relationships and 

trust required to provide meaningful support and challenge, yet remain focused on the care leaver’s 

child. Honesty is required when working with care leavers who become parents, about the likelihood that 

their own history will impact on their parenting, and that they are likely to require on-going involvement 

with support services. Sadly, care leaver’s children are over-represented in child protection cases and in 

care proceedings.  Professionals must be aware of the need for an understanding of trauma informed 

care, the impact of adverse childhood experiences, and the need to work differently to ensure that there 

is the right balance of support for the parent and protection of the child.  

44. Following the strategy meeting, child in need meetings were held and those involved continued to be 

positive about the mother’s care of Lucy. There is little evidence however of much direct contact with 

either Lucy or her mother at this time to justify the positive picture. This was due to missed 

appointments but also the challenges of the pandemic. The allocated health visitor and the pathways 

worker, both of whom who had been seen as important parts of the child in need plan, had no direct 

contact whatsoever at this time. Staff at the supported accommodation were not undertaking any direct 

work. There was a plan to involve a family resource worker to provide hands on support with routines 

and boundaries, but they had no capacity and did not get involved until after Lucy’s accident. Without 

the involvement of these key professionals, the optimistic view of how Lucy was being cared for during 

the period of child in need planning is hard to understand. The social worker allocated to Lucy only saw 

her and her mother once in the two months that followed the audit and strategy meeting, and this was 

outside the home for a short period of time. She has acknowledged that she was unable to do any 

planned work due to issues with confidentiality and lack of contact time.    

Page 28



 
Final 
 

13 
 

45. Within two months of the strategy meeting an ambulance was called because Lucy had had fallen 20ft 

from a bedroom window at her aunt’s house.  While a criminal investigation was not pursued, there is a 

view that a degree of neglect was apparent. It was following the child’s discharge from hospital to her 

mother’s care, which was agreed at a complex strategy meeting by chaired by a senior CSC manager, 

that serious concerns about Mother’s care of Lucy, who required additional care due to her injuries, 

once more became apparent. Care proceedings were swiftly commenced and the Local Authority where 

granted an Interim Care Order and a Recovery Order.   

Learning point 7:  

There is a need for professionals to robustly challenge themselves, each other and parents/carers when 

it comes to managing cases of neglect.  

46. The study ‘Working with Neglected Children and their Families: Linking Interventions with Long-term 

Outcomes’ (Farmer and Lutman 2012) considers the processes that are likely to adversely affect the 

longer-term management of families where there are neglect issues.  They are: 

• Becoming de-sensitised to children’s difficulties through habituation  

• Normalising and minimising abuse and neglect 

• Downgrading the importance of referrals about abuse or neglect from neighbours or relatives 

• Over-identification with parents 

• Developing a fixed view of cases which discounts contrary information 

• Viewing each incident of neglect or abuse in isolation and not recognising their cumulative impact 

47. In both of the cases considered there were indicators of the above in work being undertaken. An 

example was the school attended by Mia’s eldest siblings, where none of the schools perceived the 

children to be at risk of neglect. The school reflected that the family were disorganised and at times 

chaotic, but that they saw no evidence of harm or significant neglect. They told the review that the 

children’s mother needed help and support, but that this was not out of the ordinary in the community 

where they live. The oversight of the life experience of Mia’s siblings provided to this review shows that 

neglect certainly featured and has had a negative impact on their well-being.  

48. Curiosity and a willingness to challenge are fundamental professional traits required when working 

together with other professionals and with families to keep children safe. The need for ‘respectful 

uncertainty’ is widely known, but not always easy to achieve. Getting the balance right between support 

and challenge when working with parents can be difficult, it is a complex balance which requires skilled 

practitioners, reflective practice, effective supervision and professional challenge within and between 

agencies. The pandemic led to changes to practice that did not help professionals to engage with 

families or with each other. For example child in need meetings were attempted on Lucy’s case in April, 

May and June 2020, but they had to be undertaken by telephone. This created a lot of issues, with the 

health visitor reporting not being able to join, and with various connection and call quality issues. 

Middlesbrough Council bought a number of WEBEX licences to use for these meetings, but they were 

prioritised for child protection meetings and social workers coordinating child in need meetings did not 

have easy access to them. The picture was improving at the time of the completion of the review.  

Page 29



 
Final 
 

14 
 

49. When considering the impact on a child of a number of smaller issues, it is important to compile and 

consider a chronology. This can help avoid the risk of considering issues in isolation and not 

understanding the cumulative impact. A chronology, particularly one that includes multi-agency 

information, shows the full picture and a child’s care over time can be considered. It enables persistent 

and cumulative harm to be identified.  No chronology was evident for Lucy until after her accident and 

when the local authority decided that they needed to undertake care proceedings.  This means that 

there was no real understanding of how poor her mother’s engagement with professionals had been 

over time and the number of appointments that had been missed, for example. During the review there 

remained optimism about how engaged Lucy’s mother had been, despite evidence available to the 

review that this was not actually the case. Those involved at the time were not aware of the child’s lived 

experience over the months of the first lockdown as they had minimal contact with her and her mother. 

The contacts that did happen were for a maximum of 15 minutes and were undertaken outside of the 

family home. Much of Lucy’s mother’s support was supposed to have been provided by staff at the 

supported accommodation where she had a tenancy.  However due to COVID there was no hands-on 

support or direct contact. It is now known that Lucy and her mother were spending very little time at the 

accommodation, instead staying with her sister. The police have a number of examples of her being 

warned for breaking COVID restrictions.  

50. There was also optimism about the willingness of Mia’s mother to work with professionals, despite 

evidence that she was not always engaged. She swore at the health visitor in a meeting, and was often 

hostile to professionals. There was only limited engagement with the resource worker who was involved 

to offer parenting support. Mia’s older siblings were made the subject of child protection plans during 

mother’s pregnancy with Mia. A pre-birth assessment was completed and a pre-birth conference 

arranged. By the time of Mia’s birth her mother had asked her father to move out due to drug testing 

showing on-going significant substance misuse, which was positive and enabled professionals to feel 

she was listening to advice and willing to make changes for the benefit of her children. Those involved 

were optimistic that Mother would separate from him permanently. Good work was undertaken with the 

mother by CGL17 to educate her about substance misuse, to enable her to identifying patterns and 

recognise her partner’s deceit, in the hope she would be less naive about this.  His presence at the 

family home following the birth was challenged directly with him and with the mother by those involved 

and information was shared between the professionals involved. This was good practice.  

51. Mia’s mother was seen by health professionals as an experienced parent. She breast fed her babies, 

which was seen as positive and child centred. There was no history of concerns from the previous area 

where they had lived. When it emerged that appointments for the older children were being missed, 

including for the six-week check and immunisations for her baby (Mia’s older sibling) this was not 

immediately identified as of concern.  There had also been a change of health visitor within 

Middlesbrough when the family moved to another part of town not long after arriving in the area. It was 

not until a strategy meeting was held in February 2020 that health professionals were aware of the 

neglect concerns about the children. CSC had received four referrals in around three weeks. Firstly from 

the police regarding one of the older siblings being out in the community unsupervised late at night. 

                                                           
17 CGL provide treatment and support to those who misuse substances in the area.  

Page 30



 
Final 
 

15 
 

Secondly from CGL in regard to mother being pregnant and the father having on-going substance 

misuse issues. Thirdly from the school of some of the older children stating that they were unkempt, 

tired and often absent. Lastly from the ambulance service sharing their concerns about the eldest sibling 

who came to their notice due to issues of anxiety and anger control, their concerns about the home 

conditions and the child having responsibility for his younger siblings.   It was agreed that the children 

were at risk of significant harm and an ICPC was held, with the older siblings all being made subject to 

child protection plans for neglect - physical, medical, nutritional, emotional, educational, and lack of 

supervision and guidance at home. The plan included monitoring of the home and children’s life 

experience, but was closely followed by the first COVID 19 pandemic lockdown, which had a negative 

impact on the plan and potentially the children, as their mother exercised her right to keep them at home 

and the professionals involved had to abide by their agencies rules in respect of home visits due to the 

pandemic. The social worker described having to view the home and see the children through a 

downstairs window.  

52. There were some concerns about the quality of the child protection plan for Mia and her siblings. The 

IRO monitoring tool rated the case at a Red, highlighting the urgency of gaining the children’s views and 

an understanding of their lived experience, as this had not been apparent. The review was told that 

more recently (as practice has changed and improved within Covic-19 regulations) there has been a lot 

of work undertaken with the children and that the social worker has developed a good relationship with 

them. 

53. A review child protection conference was held very soon after Mia’s initial conference and there was 

concern voiced that despite nine months on a plan there had been no real improvements for the 

children, particularly in regard to their supervision, school attendance, physical appearance and home 

conditions. Their mother had received some parenting work with a resource worker, but was reported 

not to engage with what was asked of her and often said that she was confused about what she had 

been asked to do, or that she did not have time to do it. The chair stated that a legal gateway meeting 

should be considered if there was no improvement by the next core group. There was no clarity 

regarding what these improvements were and how positive change would be measured however, and 

with the absence of an outcome focused plan18 and no evidence that any neglect tools were used, this 

was going to be difficult. It was shortly after this meeting that Mia died.   

54. There were no visits inside Lucy’s home following the outbreak of pandemic and the initial lockdown in 

the UK until after her accident in July 2020. This appears to be due to it being a temporary supported 

housing unit with other residents. The 0-19 service delivery (including health visiting) were instructed to 

have no face to face client contacts until they received appropriate PPE, which took around three 

weeks. A directive was then made that the only face to face visit should be to new birth contacts, those 

on a child protection plan or if there was an absolute clinical need, where visits had to be authorised by 

service manager. This means that Lucy and her mother did not meet the criteria for a face to face visit 

from the health visitor until the strategy meeting was held on 19th May and it was agreed that the health 

                                                           
18 In a SMART and outcome focused plan the needs of the children should be specific and linked to their growth and developmental 
milestones and aimed at their preferred future. Actions need to be specific, clear and linked to meeting needs and time specific, 
linked to a responsible person. Timescales need to be determined to help focus the interventions and progress points. Outcomes 
need to be stated to outline what life would be like if the interventions were successful and the child’s needs were met consistently 
over a sustained period of time.  

Page 31



 
Final 
 

16 
 

visitor should visit. However two weeks later the health visitor became unwell and took extended sick 

leave. 

55. Professionals working with Lucy and her mother found that the mother’s engagement deteriorated 

further during the pandemic. It was easier to avoid professionals or to superficially engage on the 

telephone or when meeting briefly outside the home. There were attempts from professionals to see 

Lucy and her mother, but these were not always successful. Despite this, the child in need meetings 

held on the telephone stated that there had been progress in the child in need planning for Lucy and a 

generally positive view. There is no evidence that this was actually the case however. Lucy’s mother 

came across as managing well and this was not adequately questioned by those involved.  

56. Following Lucy’s accident there was a complex strategy meeting held which was chaired by a senior 

manager. It can now be seen that not all of the relevant background information was shared at the 

meeting, and the same positive feeling about her mother’s care of Lucy was accepted at the meeting. 

The police and the allocated social worker were unable to attend, which exacerbated this. An agreement 

was made that Lucy could return to her mother’s care when she was discharged from hospital. No other 

agency challenged this decision and Lucy returned home. There was good monitoring and information 

sharing in the days that followed, including home visits from the social worker and health visitor. It 

quickly emerged that her mother was not meeting her needs at this time and that Lucy was at risk of 

neglect. Care proceedings were started without delay.  

57. In the first weeks of the pandemic the core group meeting following Mia’s siblings being made subject to 

a CP plan was cancelled, and there is no evidence it was rearranged. There appears to have been a 

number of attempts by the social worker, health visitor and school nurse to see the children, despite the 

limitations at the time19. The school nurse did all she could to engage in a meaningful way with one of 

the older siblings when there were particular concerns about how he was managing. There is also 

evidence of communication between the professionals regarding who was able to have contact. 

Families had the right to refuse to send their children to school. There was no government guidance 

about vulnerable children being required to attend, and limited understanding of who needed to shield. 

In the case of Mia’s siblings, there was the option of all of the school age children to attend school due 

to their vulnerabilities. One of the older children refused to do so, saying that it would make her stand 

out as a child with a social worker. Their mother chose not to send the younger children, and said the 

whole family were ‘shielding’. The professionals involved thought this was really due to her not having to 

be organised to get the children to school, bearing in mind her pregnancy and the size of her family.  For 

a family where school attendance had been a long-term issue, the pandemic gave a valid reason for the 

children to miss school. Most schools took some time to set up virtual learning, and it is not known what 

home schooling Mia’s siblings had in these months. Those involved at the time reflected that it was 

unrealistic to think that a family with so many children, in small and inadequate housing that was often 

described as ‘unsafe’, with additional social problems could actively learn and develop via home 

schooling. It is known that the school undertook home visits to them and provided lunch, which was 

good practice.  

                                                           
19 PPE was not available to community health staff until 07/04/20 

Page 32



 
Final 
 

17 
 

58. The information shared with the review stated that, due to the family shielding, the social worker initially 

was only able to see the children through the window. This means that the issues that had been 

identified at the ICPC, which included the poor home conditions, the children dirty and dishevelled and 

the children’s health needs not consistently being met, could continue without any meaningful oversight 

from professionals. Shortly afterwards home visits did start again, but just 15 minutes in the home was 

recommended following a risk assessment. Other concerns also emerged at the time, including the 

children being out and unsupervised and one of them being hit by a car when out alone on their bike. 

The impact on the children of their home life was likely to be additionally concerning due to Covid 19. 

The schools had made sure that the children had appropriate uniform and food when they attended 

school prior to March 2020, and although there was contact and school dinners provided, this would not 

have compensated for a day in school when the children were ‘shielding’. Despite the enforced 

limitations, the social worker and health visitor maintained contact with the family and drew up a safety 

plan to ensure this was as effective as was possible within the limitations. This reflected a lot of positive 

work in the town generally from all professionals to ensure that children were seen despite the 

pandemic. The recording of the work undertaken at the time would have been improved by a clear 

record of the impact on each child and evidence of an understanding of their lived experience during the 

lockdown.   

59. During the reflective discussion as part of the CSPR process, Mia’s health visitor reflected on the 

challenges. She stated that there were increasingly high workload demands with CP and CIN families, 

recruitment issues across the health visiting service and a recent surge in safeguarding cases in 

Middlesbrough. This was in addition to the demands of COVID.  She did not seek safeguarding 

supervision on this case due to the general pressures and lack of time both to complete supervision 

forms for all the children and to attend the actual supervision meeting. This requires further exploration 

by the HDFT to see if it a wider issue and they have agreed to do this. Since the incident HDFT has 

rolled out 1:1 supervision to all 0-19 practitioners in Middlesbrough over a 3 month period, which is more 

actively being sought. Group supervision has also been reintroduced.  

60. There was also a more general impact from Covid-19 due to professionals catching the virus, self-

isolating, or shielding which led to some reduced capacity. This accompanied increased demand due to 

a local ‘safeguarding surge’. In their second annual report published in May 2021, the national panel 

described the previous year as ‘an indescribably hard time for children and families’ and ‘a period of 

unprecedented test and challenge for all those entrusted with safeguarding and protecting children from 

harm’. There is no doubt that while the incidents that have led to this review were not due to Covid-19, it 

had an impact on some of the practice undertaken at the time and led to stretched safeguarding 

systems.  

Conclusion and recommendations   

61. The latest OFSTED report that considered Middlesbrough Children’s Services in 2020 found that 

assessments were ‘too often poor, leading to over-optimistic decision-making’ and that many ‘fail to 

understand children’s experiences, lack clear analysis of cumulative harm, and rely on parental self-

reporting to consider parents’ capacity to make and sustain change.”  Inspectors found child protection 

plans often took ‘too positive a view of parents’ ability to sustain change’, and that this leaves some Page 33



 
Final 
 

18 
 

children in seriously neglectful and harmful situations.’ This review has found that this was the case for 

Lucy and to a lesser extent Mia and her siblings, despite there also being examples of good individual 

practice and multi-agency information sharing and communication. A lot of hard work has gone into 

improvements and a more positive response from OFSTED about progress made, including in regard to 

the thresholds issue also identified in the review. The learning from this review should be considered as 

part of this improvement journey.  

62. To assist in ensuring that improvements are made that make a difference to the children of 

Middlesbrough and the wider South Tees area, this review has also made recommendations for the 

STSCP.  

 Recommendation 1:  

 The STSCP to consider how it can ensure that all professionals in partner agencies are aware of and 

use the neglect strategy. This should involve a review of the strategy, consideration of how to relaunch it 

and how to monitor its use.   

Recommendation 2:  

The STSCP to request assurance from the Local Authority regarding improvements in the use of the 

Graded Care Profile and evidence based practice20 in neglect cases, to include consideration of its use 

by professionals across other relevant partner agencies.   

 Recommendation 3:  

 All plans, be they early help, child in need or child protection, need to provide a clear and detailed 

description of who is undertaking what work with the family, which takes their role and its limitations into 

consideration. All members of any team around a child / core group must ensure they provide 

appropriate challenge if this is not the case.   

 Recommendation 4:  

 The Corporate Parenting Board to be asked to consider how they can develop the concept of being a 

positive ‘corporate grandparent’ to the children of care leavers.  

 Recommendation 5:  

 The STSCP to consider how it can ensure that the recommendations made in the STORK review, 

regarding the need to actively involve fathers when providing services to children, are having a positive 

impact to the children of South Tees. 

 

 

 

                                                           
20 There also needs to be more use of chronologies, genograms and ecograms as part of these improvements.  

Page 34



1 

MIDDLESBROUGH COUNCIL 

CORPORATE PARENTING BOARD 
 

 

Report of: Set out the title of the Senior Manager submitting the report (Chief 

Executive, Executive Director, Strategic Director of Director 

 

Submitted to: Corporate Parenting Board- 11th January 2023. 

 

Subject: Nominet REACH – Digiwise - Elevating young peoples’ voices to influence 

the services that impact on their digital safety and opportunity 

Young person summary Report, Digital Pledge & Resources.  

 

Contribution to the guiding principles of the Corporate Parenting Strategy 

Your Home 

a) We have the vison that all of our children and young people will have safe, reliable 

online access while they are in care and be offered with the same online 

opportunities as their peers.    

b) We want to ensure that residential and foster care homes have internet connections 

that are filtered for harmful but legal content and aim to prevent our young people 

inadvertently accessing inappropriate harmful adult content when using corporate 

internet connections.  

c) We want our carers to be trained and skilled in offering high quality, impartial online 

safety discussions and to be able to offer advice and information using a range of 

recommended resources adopting a restorative approach to developing a pledge 

and/or passports for online use; equipping our children with the skills to become 

digitally resilient. 

Your Family and Friends 

d) We want to allow our young people to be able to communicate safely on social 

media and other online methods such as email 

Your Education 

e) We want to equip our young people to participate and access online education 

facilities 

Your Adult Life 

f) We want to equip our young people to grow up to be good digital citizens and 

manage their positive online transition to adulthood. 

Your Health and wellbeing 

g) We want our young people to have quick and easy access to high quality, easy to 

Page 35

Agenda Item 8



2 

access online reporting and support resources tackling online harms, harms which 

could cause them worry or trauma and for responses to be trauma informed to aide 

in recovery.  

Your Voice and Influence 

h) The purpose of Digiwise is to elevate care experienced young people’s voices to 

influence the development of digital safeguarding policy and for those views to be 

presented to the correct audience. 

 
Is the report confidential or does it contain exempt information? 
No 

 
What is the purpose of this report? 

 To update corporate parenting board on the progress of the Digiwise final young 
persons summary report and the recommendations, Promote the use of the Digital 
Pledge and promotion of the easy to access support resources. .  

 To seek the board’s support and to implement findings into new council adopted 
policy. 

 
Report Background 
In March 2021, Middlesbrough Council were successful in a funding application for 

£36,220 which is to research, consult and produce a policy/practice document for digital 

safeguarding for Children Looked After and Children Leaving Care.  

Funding by Parentzone and Nominet was allocated to 9 interlinked projects under 3 key 

areas of which Middlesbrough’s sits within Design Challenge 3, that is: 

Elevating young peoples’ voice to influence the services that impact on their 

digital safety and opportunity.  

Care experienced young people have invaluable insight which is currently 

under-utilised in relation to digital and online safety policy development.  

More specifically the project is to ensure care experienced young people can influence the 

service policies, process and practice that impact on their digital lives.  We need to extend 

participation; diversify and improve channels of communication and feedback.  

This is based on significant risks posed to Children Looked After (CLA) being at risk of 

online grooming and exploitation, exposure pornography, peer pressure to send youth 

produced sexual imagery and access to drug sales and other harmful products usually via 

social media.   

Since the last corporate parenting board in February 2022 the survey is now completed 

and this report now presents the findings and recommendations. 

The two actions allocated at the previous corporate parenting board 13th February 2022 

have been completed.  Those are: 

 The adoption of the UKCIS Digital Passport to be offered for all children looked 
after.  

 Consideration of all residential and foster care staff completing the ‘Fostering 
Network’s, Fostering Digital Skills CPD course or Enable Pathway Digital Skills 
programme. 

 

Page 36



3 

The Digiwise Research and young people’s survey  

The Digiwise survey contained a series of themed questions which explored children in 

care online behaviours.  It examined young people’s data usage, risks and online worries 

they faced and general online experiences.  deep diving into young people’s digital literacy 

we explored the skills of staff who care for them, identifying education interventions offered 

and the use of agreements and issues around ethics, trust, transparency and privacy. 

 
Appendices 
Appendix A. Digiwise young person summary final report 
Appendix B..Digiwise Digital Pledge 
Appendix C. Young person resources  
Appendix D. Foster carer resources 
 
Recommendations for Corporate Parenting Board 
1. That the board note and acknowledge the key findings from the Digiwise young 

person summary report 

2. That the board support the implementation of the recommendations from the 

main Digiwise report and are happy for new policy development (see below)  

Key findings from Digiwise project 

There are many findings from the Digiwise survey, however the following are the 

key findings that influence the recommendations. 

a) Most of our young people are exposed to some form of adversity in online spaces, 
these issues are far reaching.  

b) Young people want data that isn’t restricting their online access.  
c) That internet speeds are slow and could be better across all settings 
d) There is limited evidence of consistent approaches and overall effectiveness of 

acceptable use agreements and use of online safety contracts in care homes 
e) Young people want quick and easy access to reporting and support mechanisms, 

with tools to enable their fast access when faced with crisis. 
f) Lack of consistent guidance on appropriate filtering on both foster home broadband, 

mobile phone providers and settings on applications with the concept of “safety 
gates” being employed. 

g) Young people do not want to be overly monitored or have software installed on their 
devices. 

h) Educating professional through workforce development programme such as the 
‘Fostering Digital Skills’ programme  

i) That we need to educate young people on the risks of being online along with 
practical tips on how to keep social media counts safe including how to block, report 
and delete. 
 

Recommendations from Digiwise project 
a) Take all necessary steps to ensure harmful content such as violent, graphic, sexual, 

hateful and extremist content is minimised and filtered at source within all settings 
through the use of various “safety gates”.  

b) To ensure that our workforce and professionals, carers and residential staff have 
the skills, knowledge and skills to support young people to gain all of the benefits to 
being online, whilst still managing their risk.  

c) Being able to offer appropriate, high quality education, interventions to our young 
people and conversation starters when they are needed. 

Page 37



4 

d) Offer quick and easy access to resources and support for our children and young 
people. 

e) Consideration to the adoption of the governments UKCIS Digital Passport and the 
role It can play in building collaborative approaches to digital resilience in care 
between carer and child 

f) The existing policy Short breaks and residential services Wi-Fi & Internet use policy 
to be reviewed with new appendices and a new guidance appendices, incorporating 
Digiwise findings.   

g) A new foster care and supported lodgings wifi access policy to be submitted to 
executive. 
 

Why is this being recommended? 
Online spaces pose risks to young people just as there are risks in physical locations, 
these recommendations are designed to safeguard young people whilst in online spaces. 
 
Research from Internet Matters UK shows young people who are vulnerable such as 
children looked after are at greater risk than their non-care experienced peers due to being 
more frequently withdrawn, anxious and have lower self-esteem. 
 
In the UK, there are over 65,000 children and young people currently living in foster care 
with 55,000 foster families.  
 
In Middlesbrough in May 2022 there were 618 children and young people currently living in 
care with 449 living within foster care, 209 of which are aged 11- 18 within our sample over 
80% accessing social media and facing some form of online adversity. 
 
Other potential decisions and why these have not been recommended 

 Removal of digital devices from young people 

 Installation of monitoring software - see Regulation 20 

 Restriction of data plans and access 3, 4 and 5G connections 

 There may be legal implications of surveillance and monitoring of young 
people’s devices – Regulation 20. 

 Feedback from our young people is that ‘they would workaround’ these 
restrictions which could place them at further risk 

 ‘A Shared Responsibility, Building children’s online resilience’ report, Przybylski. 
K (2014) evidences that prohibition, restrictions and monitoring are shown to 
make children less safe and less able to self-regulate their online lives and 
subsequent risks. 

 
Impact(s) of recommended decision(s) 
The author should here set out the expected impacts of the recommended decision(s), 
under the following headings (where appropriate). 
 
Legal 
Installation of monitoring software could raise legal implications. 
 
Financial 
There could be small implications for additional resources on an individual child level 
which should be manageable within the child’s budget and care plans. 
 
Policy Framework 
It is intended that the next stage is that a policy framework will be written, taking into 
account the findings and recommendations contained within the final report, attached. 

Page 38



5 

 
The existing policy Short breaks and residential services Wi-Fi & Internet use policy is in 
place but will be reviewed in light of this research and national guidance with inclusion of 
new appendices. 
 
Equality and Diversity 
No implications 
 
Risk 
Failure to provide effective online safeguarding systems could leave children and young 
people at a higher level of risk and the organisation which may cause damage the 
organisations reputation. 
 
Actions to be taken to implement the decision(s) 
Following this corporate parenting board all agreed recommendations will be incorporated 
into SMART actions in order to ensure they are embed in council practice. 
 
Background papers 
 

Body Report title Date 

 Minutes and background papers submitted to 

corporate parenting board. 

13th February 2022 

 Nominet REACH – Digiwise - Elevating young 

peoples’ voices to influence the services that 

impact on their digital safety and opportunity 

survey and report 

September 2022 

 Digiwise – Final report young person 

summary, Digital Pledge and Resources 

11th January 2022 

 
If none, author should use ‘No background papers were used in the preparation of this 
report’. 
 
Contact: Ralph Jordinson 
Email:  ralph_jordinson@middlesbrough.gov.uk 
 

 
Style conventions / guidance (please delete): 
 

 All font within reports is to be Arial. The main body must use text size 12. 

 All main body text should be left aligned. 

 Paragraphs (not headings and sub-headings) must be numbered sequentially from 1. 

 All pages (including summary sheet) must be numbered when in draft (right aligned 
at the in the footer) from 1. Numbering should be removed before sending them to 
Committee to avoid confusion between the report page numbers and the overall 
agenda pack numbers. 

 Keep report content concise. 

 Ensure your document is proof read thoroughly before progressing further 

 Review the document to make sure it is as simple and concise as possible, while still 
setting out all the relevant information to support informed decision making 

 

Page 39



This page is intentionally left blank



REPORT

PROOF

Page 41



The children’s commissioner office identified 
several challenges for looked after children the 
main 3 were:
 • Lack of Digital access
 • Lack of digital skills and support from foster 
    careers/professionals
• Lack of appropriate safeguarding 

The report concluded: “Children in care must 
not experience social isolation or lack the 
opportunity to develop their digital skills 
because of poor digital access or because their 
foster parents or key staff lack.

We completed a survey with a total of 35 young 
people (16 female, 18 male and one 
unidentified). 43% (15) of the young people we 
surveyed lived in a residential home23% (8) were 
living in supported accommodation or lodgings, 
20% (7) were living by themselves, 9% (3) were 
living with family and 3% (1) living in foster care. 
We then went further and completed 6 deep 
dive surveys with young people, which was more 
in-depth.

We were successful in securing funding from 
Nominet to work to elevate the young peoples’ 
voices to influence the services they are given by 
creating a new policy for all young people 
looked after. 

DIGIWISE REPORT

WHAT OUR YOUNG PEOPLE DO ONLINE

YOU SAID WE DID

CONCLUSION

APPENDICES

2

4

5

6

CONTENTS

REPORT

1

2

3

4

1

Page 42



DIGIWISE REPORT

 
WHAT OUR YOUNG 
PEOPLE DO ONLINE1 TOP ‘APPS’

2

What are the reasons you go online?

Socialising

Gaming

TV and on-demand services

Entertainment 

Employment/education/training

Other 

0 10 20 30 40

32

20

17

26

15

7

How do you access the internet?

Smartphone

Tablet

Laptop

Desktop computer

Other: TV, games console

I don’t have a device

0 10 20 30

30

8

13

2

23

0

0 5 10 15

How many GB of data do you get per month?

0-10 GB

15-20 GB

25-30 GB

35-40 GB

45+ GB

Unlimited

Gifted

I don’t know

6

3

2

1

1

2

5

14

Page 43



DIGIWISE REPORT

 
1

3

0 5 10 15 20 25

Risks our young people face online

Scam/phishing/cloning

Catfishing

Using personal details on others phones

Gambling

Sexting

Strangers contacting you

Inappropriate conversation

Grooming

Excessive/inappropriate advertisements

Fake news

Online abuse/threats

Cyberbullying

Drug content

23

13

6

8

14

12

12

22

13

13

17

13

18

WHAT OUR YOUNG PEOPLE DO ONLINE

4

NO 11.8%

30

YES 88.2% 9

25

NO 73.5%

YES 26.5%

Do you think the internet
should have filters?

Have you been stopped from
accessing a website

Page 44



DIGIWISE REPORT

“Our young people have said they face 
a lot of issues online and some online 
issues are discussed more than other.”

“Foster carers were not very 
knowledgeable about online safety.” 

“They (staff) cover everything except 
how to put your accounts on private.” 

“There should be quick and easy links 
to get support services.”

“I don’t remember signing an 
acceptable use agreement to go 
online.”

“Because of the online filters I couldn’t 
get onto teams for school.”

The Middlesbrough children matters
website Digiwise Toolkit allows
professionals to access the 11-18 toolkit 
resource for activities relating to online
exploitation.

Fostering Digital skills training program has 
been given to all professionals and foster 
carers so they can learn about online risks.

We have directed staff and carers to digital 
online guides and information to make sure 
conversations cover everything.

We have developed a resource document for 
young people that can be accessed by 
scanning the QR code on the phone holders 
that we have shared with young people.

We have created a digital pledge that is 
only 5 short statements to make it more 
memorable. We have introduced the UKCIS 
Digital passport for all young people.

We will work with staff and carers to make 
sure all filters are appropriate and all 
harmful content is blocked but necessary 
websites are accessible.

YOU SAID WE DID

We asked young people what education/ training they received whilst in care

YOU SAID WE DID

4

2

Page 45



DIGIWISE REPORT

CONCLUSION

We have recommended that 
the UKCIS Digital passport will 
be completed by all young 
people in partnership with 
carers/staff to establish a 
mutual understanding of 
expectations in the home.

We have allocated the 
fostering digital skills 
training to all carers/staff 
and professionals to give 
them knowledge to stay up 
to date and keep young 
people safe.

We have made a parental guide to hand out to 
carers to give them guides on how to support 
and implement safe online practice and help 
with developing conversations in the home.

We have made a step by step guide about 
how to set up online filtering settings onto 
home Wi-Fi to enable all foster homes to 
make sure all adult content is blocked to 
safeguard young people.

We have concluded that 
young people find 
acceptable use agreements 
lengthy and hard to 
understand so we have 
replaced them with an 
easier to understand 
‘Digital pledge’ which is 
only one page long and 
with minimal writing.

We worked with Q Design to create phone 
holders to hand out to all young people so 
there is a physical product that can lead them 
to resources and support through the QR 
code on the back.  By scanning this it will link 
to the Middlesbrough children matters 
website where young people can access our 
resource poster with support and advice on 
how to deal with issues

We also want all 
staff and carers to 
be educated in the 
4 c’s (content, 
contact, conduct 
and contract) so 
they can support 
young people to 
understand them 
and remain safe.

4 CORE C’S

We will respect your privacy when accessing the internet.

We will support and encourage 
you to access the internet 
safely.

Staff/carers will support 
you when you are unsure about something online.

We will help you to be educated about online risks and how to report online.

Middlesbrough digital pledge

Middlesbrough digital pledge

This is your home we will all work together to keep everyone safe.

We will make sure staff are fully trained on online safety

3

5

Content
Child as recipient

Contact
Child as participant

Conduct
Child as actor

Contract
Child as consumer

Aggressive

Sexual

Values

Cross-cutting

Violent, gory, graphic, 
racist, hateful and 
extreme content

Pornography (legal 
and illegal), 
sexualisation of 
culture, body image 
norms

Age-inappropriate 
user-generated or 
marketing content, 
mis/disinformation

Harassment, stalking, 
hateful behaviour, 
unwanted surveillance 

Sexual harassment, 
sexual grooming, 
generation and 
sharing of child sexual 
abuse material  

Ideological persuasion 
radicalisation and 
extremist recruitment 

Bullying, hateful or 
hostile peer activity 
e.g. trolling, exclusion, 
shaming 

Sexual harassment, 
non-consensual sexual 
messages, sexual 
pressures

Potentially harmful 
user communities e.g. 
self-harm, anti-vaccine, 
peer pressures

Information filtering, 
profile bias, 
polarisation, 
persuasive design 

Sextortion, trafficking 
for purposes of sexual 
exploitation, 
streaming child sexual 
abuse

Identity theft, fraud, 
phishing, scams, 
gambling, blackmail, 
security risks

Privacy and data protection abuses, physical and mental health risks, forms of discrimination

C O
R E

Page 46



DIGIWISE REPORT

APPENDICES
APPENDIX A - CASE STUDIES

EMPLOYMENT, EDUCATION AND TRAINING: Currently attends college studying Catering, 
Mathematics and English functional skills with aspirations to work in the restaurant industry.

HOBBIES AND INTEREST: Katie like to keep herself busy and enjoys the outdoors and being around 
dogs and animals.  Katie enjoys social activities with staff and peers, going to places like jump 360 and 
bowling and enjoys being around children.

DEVICES: Katie owns a smartphone, a tablet, a laptop computer and a PlayStation.  Katie’s screen time is around 6 
hours per day with an additional 2 hours split between her other devices, occasionally plays games titles such as Sims 4, 
Grand Theft Auto v and fortnight.  Katie mainly uses her 4G data plan to access her social media on her smartphone.

APPS: Katie enjoys using Tiktok, Instagram, Snapchat, WhatsApp and Facebook, mainly using these apps to stay in 
touch with family and friends, and see what they are up to.  

ONLINE ACCESS AND EDUCATION: Katie enjoys watching YouTube my favourite channel is DaddvGirls they do family 
vlogs and challenges where they have to stay in a room for 24 hours or last to leave, they just joke around.  Katie also 
likes to watch Netflix on the houses account, she explains it has a restriction pin but the home shares it with us when 
they think we are responsible enough.  She has had lot of education on online safety from staff covering risks such as 
Sexual exploitation, Cyberbullying, Keeping safe such as not sharing person information or location and discussions and 
guidance around not send nude photos and has signed an acceptable use agreement to access the internet and fully 
understood what the expectations were when signing this.

ONLINE RISKS: Katie while she hasn’t been exposed to risks herself directly, she thinks “social media accounts should 
be made more secure on apps for everyone” as default because “a lot of young people use them” and “it can be 
dangerous for people who don’t know how to use them safely”.

CASE STUDY: Katie is a 17 year old female, currently in private residential home

EMPLOYMENT, EDUCATION AND TRAINING: Lee is on roll at a local school in year 11, he explains his 
attendance is not good as it should be and so attends an alternative education provider several times a 
week, here he is learning skills in construction trades.  He has career aspirations to do ‘anything hands on’ 
with a main goal to be an electrical engineer.

HOBBIES AND INTEREST: Lee enjoys mountain biking and motorbikes, he also enjoys maintenance on them 
and enjoys taking things apart and fixing things.  He is also a talented martial artist and an avid gamer. 

DEVICES: Lee mainly uses his smart phone (I Phone XR) to access the internet, which he averages around 3 hours and 8 mins 
per day, but also sees the internet as gaming, which he enjoys playing online on his Xbox, Lee plays on his Xbox every day for 
around 1 additional hour using Xbox Gamepass and plays a lot of game titles including 18 plus titles but doesn’t enjoy chatting 
on a headset.  
 
APPS: Lee enjoys a lot of applications, but mainly uses You Tube for gaming content watching his favourite you tubers do 
walkthroughs, but also sometimes watches this content on Twitch.  His social media top 3 are Instagram, Snapchat and 
Facebook.   He also enjoys music downloaded from Sound cloud.

ONLINE ACCESS AND EDUCATION: Lee’s favourite online activity is watching you tube gaming walkthroughs and playing on 
his Xbox, his favourite titles being Grand Theft Auto and Fortnite.  He mainly uses the residential home internet connection for 
this and says that it is good, but he also has 80Gb for when he is out in the community.  His care staff allow him to play 18+ titles 
he says “as long as you are mature about accessing that content then you should be allowed at 16 as long as you don’t copy the 
behaviour” he has had limited interventions from professionals on how to stay safe in online spaces. 

ONLINE RISKS: Lee has not had to deal with any severe online harms or risks, the only issue he feels that have affected him are 
what he sees as his excessive screentime.

CASE STUDY: Lee is a 16 year old male, he has been looked 
after since 2019 currently in supported accommodation. 

4

6

Page 47



DIGIWISE REPORT APPENDIX A - CASE STUDIES

EMPLOYMENT, EDUCATION AND TRAINING: Currently attends college studying Mathematics, English 
and employability prepare for work pathway with placements in warehouse type roles with aspirations to 
work in manual type trades.

HOBBIES AND INTEREST: Enjoys following football and is a fan of Middlesbrough Football Club, enjoys 
playing  rugby, Chris considers himself to be a great rugby player. 
 

DEVICES: Chris is an avid gamer owning Playstation 4 which he mainly plays on Fifa and Fortnite.  He uses his mobile for 
internet mainly – which is a Samsung a12 – android device, this fulfils everything he needs it for, Chris’s favourite online 
activity is online gaming he uses his Playstation 4 everyday, mainly at night before sleep, on average around 2 hours 
gaming per day and on Saturday’s maybe upto 4 hours but he doesn’t like using headsets to chat to people.  His mobile 
use is every day and he averages 5 hours per day from his screen time checks and he doesn’t feel that his screen time is 
excessive.  Chris states that during COVID-19 lockdown his online screen time increased to around 12 hours per day.

APPS: Chris’s favourite apps are dragon city a popular RPG game, His main socials are Snapchat, Instagram and Facebook 
which he jumps between, he only uses his data for this as he has unlimited 4G and doesn’t really see the point in accessing 
via the homes Wifi.  Chris enjoys watching Netflix and You Tube content via the residential homes internet. The Netflix 
account cannot access 18 plus content due to enabled restrictions.

ONLINE ACCESS AND EDUCATION: Chris states he has not had any online safety education interventions while in the 
residential home, but he did have these discussions while in foster care, he recalls signing a document to access the 
internet, although he doesn’t remember explicitly what the detail was he understands that it set out the rules and 
consequences of abusing or accessing the homes internet, he believes the internet would be disconnected and his device 
would be taken away from him if he broke the rules of the agreement.

ONLINE RISKS: Chris has not been exposed to many online risks, he explains he has been involved in some online “beef” 
or arguments with others.  He has seen and reported a lot of drug content and sales as well as sales of items like 
e-cigarettes and gold jewellery on snapchat, Chris by his own admission states that Snapchat is “lethal” for drug content 
and sales – meaning its very common content.

CASE STUDY: Chris is a 17 year old male, he has been looked after since 2016 living between 
foster care and private residential placements from 2016 and 2021 and then moving into local 
authority residential home, currently ready to transition to supported accommodation. 

CASE STUDY: Dahna is a 13 year old female, she is currently living in a private residential home.
  

EMPLOYMENT, EDUCATION AND TRAINING: Dahna currently attends a local school in year 8 and has 
determined aspirations to join the armed forces.

HOBBIES AND INTEREST: Dahna enjoys art and drawing and gaming on her console as her main activities 
and interests, although she explains she doesn’t chat to others across online games and also doesn’t chat 
VOIP, (voice chat headsets) due to her particular console not being usually enabled for voice chat. 

DEVICES: Dahna has not been allowed to have any devices due to her age and the policy for her current home.  Currently she 
just uses her Nintendo Switch using it for internet and gaming both for around 6 hours per day, she manages quite well with 
using her Switch as a tablet.  She explains that during lockdown she did not have a device to go online. 

APPS: Dahna enjoys watching You Tube as her main form of on demand entertainment, her favourite you tuber is Mr. Beast.

ONLINE ACCESS AND EDUCATION: Dahna rated her internet connection in her residential home as extremely poor, stating 
“there’s no point in having it”. Dahna explains that staff have discussed online safety issues with her and that she “probably” 
signed an acceptable use agreement but didn’t pay much attention to the content and she didn’t understand why she had to 
sign something anyway. Dahna felt very confident about her online safety, adding that “I’m not 3, I know how to” (sic - keep 
myself safe)   

ONLINE RISKS: Dahna had not experienced any adversity in online spaces.

7

Page 48



EMPLOYMENT, EDUCATION AND TRAINING: Charlotte is currently attending college studying hair 
and beauty 

HOBBIES AND INTEREST: Charlotte enjoys completing beauty treatments such as make-up and nails, 
she also is a keen artists and enjoys drawing.

DEVICES: Charlotte has several devices which include a smartphone, a PS4 gaming console and a laptop computer.  She 
uses these devices collectively for around 8 hours per day and feels that they fulfil her requirements for being online, she 
also tries to avoid being online late at night because it interferes with her sleep routine. Charlotte notes that while she has 
her PS4, she doesn’t bothering playing online as the internet connection is too slow which stops any meaningful online 
gameplay.

APPS: Charlotte enjoys using Snapchat as her main social media application and frequently uses Netflix for entertainment, 
choosing to watch documentary type programmes, these have age restrictions enabled which prevent her from access any 
content above her age, and Charlotte also enjoys TikTok watching various videos.

ONLINE ACCESS AND EDUCATION: Charlotte commented her internet connection in her residential home could be 
better, stating she would usually use her data or Wifi at her friend’s houses instead of the residential home because “it 
doesn’t work well”

Charlotte has signed acceptable use agreement to access the internet and has had education intervention and discussions 
with staff regarding online safety which has included awareness of not adding people she does not know and how to block 
people who are being “weird” and the risks of accessing inappropriate content and websites.
 
ONLINE RISKS: Charlotte explains that she as a victim of child online exploitation/grooming and had reported the 
perpetrator to support staff and Police which received an appropriate response.

CASE STUDY: Charlotte is a 17 year old female, she is currently living in a private residential home.  

DIGIWISE REPORT APPENDIX A - CASE STUDIES

DIGIWISE REPORT APPENDIX B - THEORY OF CHANGE

8

Unsafe use by some vulnerable 
young people in care whilst 
accessing social media or online can 
leave them at risk.

A lack of understanding and training 
by staff and carers could mean more 
risks to a young person ad they may 
not known how to support them.  

Use of internet and social media can 
have effects on young peoples 
mental health and physical health as 
they can be negatively effected.

When some websites are blocked for 
young people this can lead to 
education, employment, training and 
research being limited 

A lack of knowledge on how to spot 
signs that they may be in an unsafe 
situation or what to do if they are in 
an unsafe situation could leave them 
at a higher risk 

Target AudienceIdentified Problems 

Nominet

Infocus

Corporate parenting 
board

Departmental 
Management Team 
(DMT)

Young people steering 
group

REACH steering group

REACH governance 
group

Outcomes pathway
Young people ages 
10-18.

Young people ages 
18-25.

Professionals
(136 Foster carers, 
150 residential 
staff and 50 social 
workers).

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

Stakeholders

Young people can access the internet in a safer manner by 
increasing their knowledge of online safety/ social media 
risks. This can help to develop the confidence to address any 
immediate harms they face.

Young people access to the internet will be balanced against 
need, by reviewing the process for sites that are blocked 
based upon the severity of the reason it is blocked e.g. 
content, images.

All young people will sign an acceptable use agreement 
(AUAs), and be guided to completing their UKCIS Digital 
Passport and aware of what is expected from them when they 
are online, the expectations will be outlined in the AUAs and 
Digital Passport.

Residential staff and carers will be able to effectively support 
young people when they are using the internet. In addition 
they will have the skills, and knowledge to ensure the young 
persons safeguarding and guide them where to go something 
goes wrong.

Young people will be able to effectively manage and 
encourage positive mental and physical wellbeing whilst 
online by taking the correct steps to keep themselves safe.

Activities and Inputs

Assumptions

Impacts

Focus groups for young people to expand 
their knowledge and discuss issues they face 
online.
Workshops and training for professionals.
Young people signing effective and 
understandable acceptable use agreements 
(AUAs) and completion if UKCIS Digital 
Passport.
An effective corporately adopted written 
policy for inclusion policy for children looked 
after.
Recruiting an apprentice to take the role of a 
young person policy development apprentice 
and ensuring they have continued CPD 
(continued personal development).
Consulting with CICC and the care leavers 
forum.

•

•

•

•

The current digital policy in place in residential 
placement is not good.
Training provided to professionals contains 
insufficient knowledge for them to effectively 
manage young people online.
There is limited workshops opportunities for 
young people to gain the correct information 
around how to ensure their safety.
Acceptable use agreements are not at a good 
enough standard. 

A set standard of rules for granting or denying 
internet access.
An improved professional and young person 
awareness of digital issues.
An improved professional guidance document.
A corporate policy for digital resilience and 
inclusion to be implemented.
Supported corporately by DMT (designed 
managerial team) and corporate parents 
Middlesbrough Council Fulfils its wishes to be one 
of the safest places for a child to grow up online. 

•

•

•

•

•

•
•
•

•

Page 49



FUNDED BY

Page 50



We will respect your 
privacy when accessing 
the internet.

We will support and encourage 
you to access the internet 
safely.

Staff/carers will support 
you when you are unsure 
about something online.

We will help you to 
be educated about 
online risks and how 
to report online.

Middlesbrough digital pledgeMiddlesbrough digital pledge

This is your home we will 
all work together to 
keep everyone safe.

We will make 
sure staff are 
fully trained on 
online safety

Page 51



This page is intentionally left blank



View websiteView website View website

View website

SUPPORT SERVICES 

CEO
P

Report Rem
ove

A free and private con�dential services 
where you can talk to a trained 
counsellor about anything. 
T: 0800 1111

Childline

Listening and support to you & 
communities in times of need.
T: 116 123
E: jo@samaritans.org

Sam
aritans

Support and information for children 
and young people on the edge of care 
and care leavers.
T: 0808 800 5792

Coram
 Voice

A free, con�dential 24/7 text messaging 
support service for anyone who is 
struggling to cope with emotional 
well-being. Text: SHOUT to 85258

View website View website

Shout 85258

Kooth 

Free and con�dential support for 
under 25’s.
T: 0808 808 4994
Text: The Mix to 85258

The M
ix

Report online child sexual 
exploitation, abuse and inappropriate 
communications.

View website View website

Report Remove can support you in 
reporting sexual images or videos 
shared online and enables you to get 
the image removed if it is illegal.

shout
85258

Online emotional well-being and 
support community.

Online Safety resources children and young people 

To access the resources below scan the QR CODE or click VIEW WEBSITE

View website

Advice about staying safe when you’re 
on phone, tablet or computer.

CEO
P

Education from

the National

Crime Agency

Page 53

www.ceop.police.uk
www.iwf.org.uk/our-technology/report-remove/
www.childline.org.uk
www.samaritans.org/how-we-can-help
www.coramvoice.org.uk
www.giveusashout.org
www.kooth.com
www.themix.org.uk
https://www.thinkuknow.co.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



View websiteView website View website

View website

INFORMATION & ADVICE

Becom
e

Childnet

Connecting Safely Online Hub - 
empowering all young people to have a 
positive time online.

Internet M
atters

Help with bullying.

Kidscape

Mental health and wellbeing 
information.

M
ind

A digital friend to support the emotional 
wellbeing of children aged 8-11.

View website View website

Parent Zone - O
llee App

View website

Advice about staying safe when you’re 
on phone, tablet or computer.

Thinkuknow

Reporting Harm
ful Content

Guidance on online sexual 
harassment and other online harms.

School of Sexuality Education

A charity for children in care and 
young care leavers.

View website View website

Information, help and advice about 
the internet.

A national centre designed to assist 
everyone in reporting harmful 
content online.

Resources for professionals, residential carers and foster carers

To access the resources below scan the QR CODE or click VIEW WEBSITE

When visiting the website select your age range

Education from

the National

Crime Agency

Page 55

https://becomecharity.org.uk
https://www.childnet.com/young-people/
https://www.internetmatters.org
http://kidscape.org.uk/advice/advice-for-young-people/
https://www.mind.org.uk/information-support/for-children-and-young-people/
https://app.ollee.org.uk/#/welcome
https://reportharmfulcontent.com/child/
https://static1.squarespace.com/static/57dbe276f7e0abec416bc9bb/t/5f86b397b2e54d10a44ae46f/1602663355088/School+of+Sex+Ed+OSH+Guidance+for+Students.pdf
https://www.thinkuknow.co.uk


This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes- Corporate Parenting Board - 29 November 2022
	4 Participation of children and young people.
	Participation report

	5 Kingfisher report
	CSPR Kingfisher Report

	8 Nominet – REACH- Digiwise.
	Digiwise - Young Person Report PROOF December 2022 PROOF
	Appendix 2 MCM-Digital Pledge
	Appendix 4 MCM-Online Young People Resources Support Services
	Appendix 5 MCM-Online Professionals Resources Info  Advice




